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Foreword by the Vice Chancellor
This is the end of my first year as Vice Chancellor, and the
achievements of the University during the past 12 months
have reinforced for me what a vibrant and exciting place
this is to work, the essentialness of our mission, and our
value to the communities that we serve.
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Over the course of the year we agreed our new Strategic
Plan. It re-affirms our University-wide commitment to
delivering the best possible student experience. Indeed, our
prioritisation of the student experience will become a
defining characteristic of the University of Bedfordshire.

This commitment and prioritisation is reflected in our
investment in students, staff and facilities over the past
year. Our new £20 million Postgraduate and Continuing
Professional Development Centre – one of just 10 centres in
the UK and the only one to explicitly bring postgraduate
and CPD study together in a university setting – was
opened by the Minister for Universities and Science, Rt Hon
David Willetts MP in May.

He was full of praise for the University’s “confidence and
vision to invest in its postgraduate provision” and
described the building as “typical of the flair and flexibility
of this University”.

These characteristics are further evidenced by the opening
of the University’s latest campus, University Campus
Milton Keynes, in autumn 2013, and work progressing on
building a new library in Luton and on improving sports
facilities and the construction of a new academic building
at our Bedford Campus. Decisions on the scope and
functions of these developments were taken in partnership
with our students – reflecting our commitment to an active
partnership between the University and student.

Responding to student demand, our libraries are now open
24/7 and are used at all hours, and we have opened two
new Students’ Union venues. We were also able to
establish China Summer Schools, and 150 of our students
took advantage of this opportunity in 2012/13. This scheme
will go from strength to strength over the coming years
with further opportunities for even more students. I’m
convinced that a period abroad, studying and working if
possible, massively increases self-confidence, external
awareness and development of skills relevant to the
workplace.

The President of the Students’ Union has joined my
Executive team (along with our Executive Deans), an
important sector-leading move, reflecting our commitment
to involve students as partners in the University community.

The Public Policy Lectures that I introduced last year have
already played host to two national politicians – Speaker of
the House John Bercow and former Home Secretary David
Blunkett, with an exciting line-up of speakers for the year
ahead.

We were delighted with the recent HEFCE announcement
regarding the successful MK:Smart ‘Catalyst’ project, where
we are working with universities, private companies and
the local authority. Our University Research Institutes
continue to break new ground in areas as diverse as
Parkinson’s stem cell research; E-crime; and as leaders of
the new Frontline Academy.

Over the next year we will continue to take forward our
new strategic plan, prioritising the student experience,
increasing knowledge exchange and maximising the
impact of our local, national and international
collaborations and partnerships.

Bill Rammell
Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive



Report of the Governors for the year ended 31 July 2013

Operating and financial review

A new environment
The provision of higher education in England and Wales has entered a new era, with changes in student funding
and recruitment regimes that have the potential to significantly affect all institutions in the sector. This University
continues to closely monitor the impact that these changes may have on its strategy and plans, but remains fully
committed to the access mission and to the widening participation agenda that have done so much to help
current students and alumni to realise their potential and fulfil their aspirations.

This Operating and Financial Review charts progress and achievements over the past year and considers the
risks and challenges ahead, whilst continuing to realise our access mission and ambitions.

Charitable objectives
The University’s charitable objectives are derived from Section 124 of the Education Reform Act 1988. This bestows
the University with the powers to provide higher education, conduct research and publish the results of research.

The University is committed to the vision set out in its current strategic plan, which is to provide transformational
opportunities through access to an excellent educational experience.

This vision is underpinned by a mission and charitable aim to create a vibrant, multicultural learning community,
enabling people to transform their lives by participating in excellent, innovative education, scholarship and
research. This mission is achieved through four strands: customer care, innovation, investment in systems and long
term sustainability.

In setting and reviewing the University’s strategic objectives, the Board of Governors has had due regard for the
Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit and particularly upon its supplementary guidance on the
advancement of education.

In delivering its mission the University provides the following identifiable public benefits through the advancement
of education:

•  High-quality teaching and scholarship
•  World-leading research
•  Widening participation and tackling social exclusion
•  Excellent employment record for graduates
•  Strong student support systems
•  Links with employers, industry and commerce.

The University’s achievement against its charitable objectives is set out below.

Beneficiaries
The University’s main beneficiaries are its undergraduate and postgraduate students, who are engaged in
learning and research. Other direct beneficiaries include employers, industry and those who benefit from its
research. Other beneficiaries will include our alumni, parents and families, our local communities, businesses
and organisations that receive our students as volunteers or as placements or interns.

Achievement of charitable objectives
The University’s achievements in 2012/13 include the following activities that demonstrate its public benefit:

Teaching

We develop people through their learning and help them to acquire the skills to make a more meaningful and
effective contribution to society through their leadership, their enhanced abilities and knowledge, and their
innovation and creativity. This helps to ensure that society, industry, commerce and the public services have
access to people with the right skills and attributes to ensure their success.

In 2012/13:

•  We provided quality higher education to over 24,000 undergraduate and postgraduate students.

•  We provided more than 600 courses that together address demand from students, employers and society.

•  Many of these courses serve specific industries and social needs. For example, we trained 1,153 health and
social care professionals and 988 teachers during 2012/13. We also provided continuing education and
professional development for more than 500 teachers.

Research

We are committed to the discovery and expansion of knowledge and to delivering this knowledge for the benefit
of society. We also train and develop skilled and able researchers to contribute to the ongoing development and
capacity of research activity with academia and industry to improve economic, social and cultural wealth.
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Our research and the staff who undertake it are acknowledged as world-leading in a number of areas by external
agencies, and are cited in the Government’s Research Assessment Exercise.

In 2012/13:

•  Income from research activity, including fees from research students, increased to £5.4m. This demonstrates the
increasing importance, value and impact of the University’s research activity to sponsors and society in general.

•  The University had 392 registered research students, an increase of 29% on the prior year. This demonstrates
the increasing attractiveness of research study options provided by the University to new researchers.

•  The University has demonstrated the public benefits of its research through providing advice and expertise to
government bodies, local authorities and others in areas as diverse as health inequalities, gang culture and
knife crime, child protection, cyber-security, communications policy, media analysis and criminal justice.

Multicultural and diverse learning community

The University aims to create a student body and multicultural learning environment that is balanced and diverse.
This leads to an inclusivity that embraces individual differences, promotes equality and provides an equal
opportunity for all to achieve their full potential, regardless of background or ethnic origin.

In 2012/13:

•  Students from more than 130 countries studied at the University. This included more than 8,300 students from
outside the EU, of which 3,450 studied at overseas partner institutions. The University received a Queen’s Award
for Enterprise: International Trade in 2011 to reflect its excellent track-record in international recruitment.

•  Our student population demonstrated a multicultural learning environment with 41% of our students declaring
themselves as white, 31% Asian, 23% black, 3% mixed and 2% from other ethnic origins. Our staff population is
also multicultural with 72% declaring themselves as white, 10% Asian, 6% black, 2% mixed and 6% from other
ethnic origins.

•  Our student population also demonstrated diversity in terms of age: 64% of our students were aged 21 years
old and over, 36% were aged 25 years and over.

Widening participation

We encourage social mobility by raising aspirations to enter higher education and we tackle issues of social exclusion
by providing an extensive outreach programme to widen participation in higher education and to stimulate interest
in further study. This includes visits to schools and community centres and strong links with our partner colleges.

In 2012/13:

•  45.7% of our full-time undergraduates were drawn from National Statistics Socio-economic Classifications 4 to 7

•  98.3% of our full-time undergraduates had attended state schools

•  6.5% of our students had a declared disability.

Employability

The University aims to ensure that all its students maximise their ability to secure satisfying, meaningful and
rewarding careers and to make an effective contribution to the economic and social wealth of society.

In 2012/13:

•  Our graduates enjoyed excellent employment rates and demonstrated the transformational experience of
studying at the University – 88.3% of our graduates were either in employment or following paths of further
study within six months of graduation.

•  We use ‘JobSavviGrad’ as a one-stop-shop to enable students to identify and secure employment and
volunteering opportunities. This provides access to over 30,000 opportunities at any one time and over 5,000
students actively use the system.

•  Our Careers and Recruitment Service provides a job placement and advisory service that works with students
and graduates. This service is open-ended and we do not restrict access to our service after two years from
graduation like most universities.

•  Working with our Students’ Union we offer volunteering opportunities as part of a commitment to citizenship,
the community and service to society that will equip students throughout their working lives and beyond. Our
Bedfordshire Edge award programme enables students to gain formal recognition for the learning that they
gain through activities they undertake at the University, including volunteering, part-time work, active roles in
clubs and societies and acting as course representatives.

•  Our graduate intern scheme places graduates with local employers to meet specific business needs and skills
shortages within their business.

•  Our comprehensive graduate support programme is run in conjunction with the Department for Work and
Pensions and operates throughout Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire to help unemployed graduates to secure paid
work. This placed over 100 graduates into work and gained national recognition by winning the 2013 Association
of Graduate Careers Advisory Services Award for Excellence in Student and Graduate Employability.
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Student support

The University aims to ensure that all students receive high-quality support that helps them to maximise the
quality of their learning experience and academic achievement. This, in turn, helps them to make a better
contribution to society and the economy as a result of their studies and experience.

In 2012/13:

•  We have continued the investment plan for new estate developments that will support and enhance the
learning experience of our students and the vibrancy of our learning community, including commencing the
construction of a new Library and Learning Resources Centre at Luton and the refurbishment of our Bedford
Campus. Our new Postgraduate and Continuing Professional Development (CPD) Centre opened in early 2013.
By the end of 2012/13 more than £180 million had been invested in the estate over a 10 year period.

•  New student social facilities were opened at Bedford in January 2013 and new premises for student social
activities were secured at Luton during 2012/13. This enhances the social experience of our students and
provides a high-quality living and studying environment.

•  The Student Information Desk (SiD) continued to provide a one-stop-shop for all student services and support
needs. During the year, it dealt with more than 100,000 student enquiries.

Links with employers, industry and commerce

We provide high-quality training, continuing professional development, consultancy and applicable research that
helps to stimulate and sustain economic growth and tackles social disparities and disadvantages, that assists
and fosters regeneration and community cohesion, and informs public policy and the professions. This
contributes to the economic, social and cultural wealth of society.

In 2012/13:

•  We maintained and enhanced strong, close links with more than 2,000 UK companies. These links include the
provision of training, consultancy, sponsorship and applicable research.

•  We opened a £20 million Postgraduate and CPD Centre that serves the training and development needs of the
local and regional economy and improves the learning experience of our postgraduate students.

•  Many of our courses are accredited by professional bodies and we offer an employer-focused curriculum that
is specifically designed in conjunction with employers to meet the needs of industry and maximise the
employability skills of our students.

•  We support small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) and start-up companies and are committed to
assisting fledgling businesses by providing free lectures such as the Basics of Building a Business series –
offering entrepreneurs the chance to learn essential business skills.

•  We provided some 6,000 learner days through CPD courses.

Other public benefits

The University has an economic impact that is worth almost £300 million to the local economy. We have a strong
‘town and gown’ relationship and meet regularly with representatives from the respective town councils to work
together to improve our environments as places to live, work and study. The University is also committed to
playing a meaningful role in its local communities by developing partnerships which benefit the community, those
who live within the community and the University. The University supports a range of community activities,
including the Luton Carnival, the Bedford River Festival and the Milton Keynes Theatre and Milton Keynes
Orchestra. The University’s theatre and sports facilities are available for public use.

Tackling harm and detriment
The University does not believe that any
detriment or harm arises from its activities. It
has a well publicised policy for handling and
resolving student complaints and a robust
research ethics policy. The University also has
an environmental strategy and associated
policies that promote sustainability and the
protection of the environment across the
entire breadth of its activities. For example,
we have specific policies on energy reduction
and on recycling. All new buildings are
expected to achieve Building Research
Establishment Environmental Assessment
Method (BREEAM) ‘Excellent’ standard and
existing buildings are refurbished to improve
their environmental efficiency.
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Incidental private benefits
The University has policies to deal with activities that may lead to incidental private benefits. Private consultancy
is not permitted by University staff. Once concluded, unless otherwise contractually required, all research
completed by staff is placed in the public domain.

Tackling barriers
The University offers excellent, innovative education and research to all who are able to demonstrate that they
have the required attributes to benefit from these activities. Like all higher education providers, the University is
obliged to charge tuition fees but offers a generous bursary scheme and scholarships for those who face
financial difficulties. It also directs students and helps them to identify other sources of financial support such as
student loans. Specific help is provided to disabled students to enable them to apply for disabled student
allowances and a range of services, equipment and specialist software for disabled students is available within
the University to support their learning. In 2011, the University received ‘positive about disabled people’ status
from Jobcentre Plus.

All prospective students are alerted to the availability of financial support, either through our own scholarship
and bursary schemes or through external sources of support such as student loans. In 2012/13, we distributed
£4.6 million in bursaries and scholarships to support students who may otherwise have been unable to meet
their tuition fees and living costs.

The University applies no geographical restrictions to its activities and students and staff are recruited from across
the UK and internationally. The University delivers provision to students based in the UK and in other countries.

Academic excellence
The University has an excellent academic reputation, as recognised by the following:

•  The Quality Assurance Agency have expressed full confidence in their last full audit in the University’s
processes for assuring quality and in its standards. A number of activities were commended as points of good
practice.

•  OFSTED in its most recent inspection visit assessed the University’s Primary Initial Teacher Training provision
as ‘good’. The Graduate Teacher Programme is also rated as outstanding by OFSTED.

•  The University was commended in the most recent Research Assessment Exercise for its world-leading and
internationally excellent research in a number of fields including social work, sport, tourism and leisure,
computer science and business and management studies.

•  A number of University staff have received a National Teaching Fellowship for outstanding contributions to
teaching and learning.

These judgements on our teaching and learning and on our research have served to reinforce the growing
reputation of the University reflected in increased student recruitment and applications.

Operating highlights and academic review

Student recruitment

The changes to the fee regime for UK and EU students which came into effect from 2012/13 were widely
expected to result in a decrease in applications from UK and EU undergraduates across the sector, particularly
given the record levels of applications that there had been in 2011/12. In the event, the University again achieved
its student number control limit as well as its targets for NHS commissioned numbers and for Teaching Agency
undergraduate recruitment.

International recruitment fell slightly due to Government visa rules and policy changes.

Student satisfaction and reputation

Home and EU student satisfaction with the University, as measured by the National Student Survey, improved to
80%, the University’s highest ever score. This reflects the immense effort that has been made in a short period of
time to improve the student experience across the board.

The University intends to build on this through continued investment and initiatives in 2013/14 and beyond.
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Student experience

The University has sought to develop its relationships with its students, both through closer engagement with the
Students’ Union and by acting on suggestions and comments in a “You Said We Did” campaign. The most
prominent example of this has been the opening of the libraries at both the Luton and Bedford campuses on a
24/7 basis. This has been extremely well received and utilised by the students, particularly the way it assists
students in their writing up of assignments and preparation for exams.

Other initiatives have been the opening of a student bar at the Bedford Campus, the provision of personalised
timetables and a grade predictor that enables students to determine not only their current forecast degree
classification but also how close they are to an alternative, thereby providing an extra incentive for their study
efforts.

John Smith’s partnership

The University entered into a partnership with John Smith’s for the operation of a student-focused bookshop
close to the Luton Campus, operating in conjunction with the University’s bursary scheme and providing
textbooks, research materials and stationery in a facility not previously available to students of the University. The
nature of the partnership and the direct relationship to the students’ needs is expected to help further improve
retention rates within the University.

Research grant for cancer treatment

The University’s Centre for Computer Graphics and Visualisation secured a £1million grant from the European
Commission to support two projects that will help to find new ways for cancer specialists to optimise the
treatment of cancers and give patients greater control over their healthcare.

Estates investment

The University has an Estates Strategy that sets out its goal of refreshing and improving its facilities for students,
from teaching rooms to living accommodation. This Strategy is prudently phased but is still dependent on student
recruitment levels and sound financial management. Both have been in place for a number of years, enabling the
University to continue its significant capital investment in 2012/13, and with the resources to complete current
phases and plan future phases of the Strategy, notwithstanding the current and prospective challenges in the UK
higher education funding environment.

The first phase of the Strategy saw the opening of the Luton Campus Centre in October 2010, followed by a new
hall of residence, Fitzroy Court, constructed through the University’s partnership with Campus Living Villages
(“CLV”).

A second new hall of residence, Wenlock Court, opened in September 2012. This hall, which provides 274 rooms,
brings the total investment in new accommodation at the Luton Campus to more than £40million over the last
three years.

The second phase of the Estates Strategy began with the construction of a new Postgraduate and CPD Centre
(“PG/CPD Centre”) at the Luton Campus, encompassing the most modern academic provision, including Harvard-
style teaching rooms, complemented by high-specification teaching and audio-visual equipment. The building
opened for teaching in February 2013 to wide acclaim from students, staff and the wider public.

As a parallel project to the construction of the PG/CPD Centre, the adjacent Business School was fully refurbished
internally and overclad externally to create a fully modernised building.

The overcladding of the Business School combined with the PG/CPD Centre, which has been designed to a
BREEAM ‘Excellent’ standard, will together make a significant contribution to the University’s carbon reduction
targets.

Whilst the PG/CPD Centre was being constructed, the University undertook a review of its Estates Strategy, and in
particular the phasing of planned future developments. This resulted in proposals to bring forward the
construction of a New Library at the Luton Campus, and of a New Academic Building and enhanced sports
facilities at its Bedford Campus.

The New Library will become the leading emblematic edge of a larger investment in student experience and
contribute to the regeneration of Luton town centre. The library will provide a study space, including silent study
areas, as well as social learning and relaxation areas, and be linked to existing University buildings. The library is
scheduled to open in September 2015. In the meantime, a refurbishment of the existing library at the Luton
Campus was approved. This commenced in July 2013, ready for the start of the 2013/14 term.

The New Academic Building at the Bedford Campus will provide a landmark new entrance to the campus and
include state-of-the-art teaching and seminar space, student services and a café. It is scheduled to open in
September 2014.

As a prelude to the construction of the New Academic Building, the sports facilities at the Polhill Campus were
fully refurbished in summer 2013, for use from October 2013.
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University Campus Milton Keynes

The University has entered into a
partnership with Milton Keynes
Council to create a new university
presence in Milton Keynes, under
the prestigious title of University
Campus Milton Keynes (UCMK),
with an initial focus on engineering,
technology and business-related
subjects. Work to develop the
teaching space was commenced in
summer 2013, and the campus
opened to students at the start of
October 2013.

Diversity and employment of disabled persons
The University is proud of the diverse nature of its employees. Employee recruitment and grading processes,
together with programmes for employee involvement, communication and training are all designed to promote
equal opportunity for all irrespective of age, sex, race, religion, colour or sexual orientation.

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered. If existing employees become
disabled, every effort is made to continue their employment with the University and to arrange appropriate
training. It is the University’s policy that the training, career development and promotion of disabled persons
should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

Employee involvement and training
The University places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and on good communication with
them. Staff are informed through regular meetings, the extensive University intranet, open fora, staff
newsletters, staff magazines and other means. Staff are encouraged to participate in formal and informal
consultations at University and unit level, through membership of formal committees and informal working
groups. The University has an Organisational Development and Training Unit that is responsible for providing
technical and general training to all levels of staff and to help build leadership.

Balanced scorecard
The University uses a balanced scorecard to monitor its performance across qualitative and quantitative
measures linked to the University’s Strategic Plan. The scorecard, which is distributed to Governors on a regular
basis, helps to stimulate action and influence behaviour in the areas which are seen as the most important
drivers by Governors and management. These areas were selected because they represent areas of the
University’s work and interest in which it invests significant resources of all kinds and which, as a consequence,
it must keep in balance in order to ensure that it delivers its mission, secures its standing in the higher education
sector and maintains its short-term and long-term business strength.

Financial strategy
The University’s financial strategy is designed to ensure its long-term sustainability, whilst also providing the
bedrock for the strategic capital investments. The principal measures through which the University seeks to
achieve this are:

•  achieving recruitment and income targets;

•  controlling pay and non-pay costs relative to income;

•  achieving operating and net cash flow targets; and

•  keeping net borrowings below three times net operating cash flow, whilst also complying with HEFCE and
bank borrowing covenants.

These measures are considered in the University’s normal planning, budgeting and medium-term forecasting
cycle, in the development and implementation of its treasury policy, and the planning and execution of its
Estates Strategy and wider programme of capital investment.

Risk analysis
A risk assessment has been carried out against each of the individual strands and objectives set out in the
University’s Strategic Plan 2012-17. The key financial risks are described below:

The medium-term impact of the funding regime changes on UK and EU student applications from 2012/13
onwards remains to be seen and there is a risk of a decrease in applications, particularly from that sector of the
population which has benefited from the University’s access mission and strategy.
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Beyond 2012/13 there is a risk that retention levels will decrease as students become concerned about
increasing levels of debt whilst they are studying. Additionally, the widening of the uncapped recruitment pool
from students achieving AAB or better to those achieving ABB or better may lead to a domino effect across the
sector as competition for these students is intensified amongst those institutions perceived as offering better
quality.

The University’s ability to recruit internationally may be affected by:

•  Government measures, such as targets on immigration which continue to include students coming to the UK
for specified periods of study, and rhetoric.

•  any changes to its current status as a highly trusted sponsor, as licensed by the UK Border Agency.

The University’s largest single cost is staffing and pay increases and changes in pension legislation therefore
have a significant impact on financial performance. The reform of public sector pensions and the ongoing
debate regarding funding of these schemes could have a significant financial impact on the University.

Sustainable development is becoming an increasing feature of student demand and policy imperatives. Failure
to contribute to the sustainable development agenda is likely to impact upon recruitment and the ability to
maximise funding streams.

Treasury management
The University manages its financing and exposure to financial risk. The University’s formal financial strategy
sets minimum liquidity levels in order to ensure that sufficient financial flexibility is maintained.

The security of cash deposits is of paramount importance, and the University’s Treasury Management Policy
therefore permits accounts and deposits to be held only with UK high street clearing banks.

The secondary consideration with regard to cash deposits is income. The University maintains the majority of
its cash on fixed term deposits of varying maturities, enabling the maximum yield whilst ensuring that it has
sufficient liquidity available to meet day-to-day operational needs and investment commitments, without
recourse to overdraft facilities.

Each year, as part of its normal planning processes, rolling five year financial forecasts are prepared. This
process incorporates a review of capital expenditure and cash generation, thus enabling any necessary future
borrowing requirements to be negotiated well in advance of need. Regular meetings are held with the
University’s banking partners to ensure that they are kept apprised of developments and have sufficient
comfort and confidence in the University to provide funding, should the need arise.

The University seeks a balance in its borrowings, between those at fixed rates of interest and those at variable
rates.

Financial review
The consolidated financial performance is summarised as:

2013) 2012)

£m) £m)

Income 133.5) 130.3)

Operating expenditure before FRS17 pension costs (117.1) (116.3)

Surplus before FRS17 costs 16.4) 14.0)

Difference between historical cost depreciation charge and the

actual depreciation charge for the year on the revalued amount
2.9) 6.4

)

Surplus for the year on an historical cost basis before FRS17 pension costs 19.3) 20.4)

FRS17 pension costs adjustment to Income and Expenditure Account (1.2) (0.9)

Historical cost surplus for the year 18.1) 19.5)
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Income and expenditure account
Income

The University has continued to grow its total income, which rose by 2.5% in the year.

Reflecting the start of the Government’s reforms of funding for the higher education sector, recurrent grant income
from both HEFCE and the Teaching Agency reduced significantly, by £8.7m (34.8%) and £2.1m (38.7%) respectively.
HEFCE specific grants remained broadly flat.

The decline in grant income has been more than offset by additional fee income from students, with full time UK
and EU undergraduates who commenced their studies in September 2012 or subsequently, paying a fee of £9,000
per annum. This, together with improved retention levels, contributed to a growth in income from those students of
£18.7m (61.7%). Fees from part-time students also increased.

The market for international students became more challenging across the sector in 2012/13. Whilst the University
continued to perform strongly in comparison to its competitors at recruiting international students, it nonetheless
experienced a decrease of £5.0m (16.2%) in fee income.

The University continued to meet the recruitment targets set in its contracts with Strategic Health Authorities, and
income from those contracts remained strong, albeit broadly flat year on year.

Research income exceeded £3m for the first time, including continued growth from commercial bodies, and a
reversal of the decrease in public sector income seen in 2011. Together these have outweighed the continuing
decline in grants from research councils.

Expenditure

Staff numbers have increased by 98 during the year as the University invests in the student experience. These
higher staffing levels have led to a rise in staff costs of £3.9m (6.7%) in the year.

As staff costs increase, so the need for control of non-pay expenditure becomes ever-more important, and this
showed a slight fall year on year, notwithstanding inflationary pressures within the UK economy.

The increase in depreciation reflects the significant investment that the University has made and continues to make
in its estate and in facilities and equipment for staff and students, particularly in information technology and audio
visual equipment.

In addition to standard depreciation, additional depreciation is being charged to those properties which will be
affected by current and future phases of the Estates Strategy. With the addition of the New Library phase over 2013
to 2015, buildings which have previously had accelerated depreciation charged to them continue to be depreciated
at an accelerated rate, however over a longer timespan, whilst other properties were added to the programme. The
differing values of the properties involved meant that accelerated depreciation at a gross level reduced by £3.8m,
however the effect after adjusting for revaluation reserve releases was only £0.4m.

The University remains one of the most generous in the UK for its scholarships and bursaries, and £4.7m was paid
during the year, an increase of £0.5m on 2011/12. This increase in student related expenditure was however more
than offset by savings in payments to partner colleges of £2.2m, reflecting new arrangements with franchise
providers.

Significant investment was made in books and periodicals to directly benefit students, and extra promotional
activity was undertaken, reflecting the increasingly competitive HE sector. These costs and increases were offset by
reductions in legal and professional costs, as agents’ commissions payments decreased in line with international
student recruitment volumes, and in premises related expenditure, resulting from reduced utility and building
maintenance costs.

Although returns on pension scheme assets exceeded those previously assumed by the actuaries, this was
outweighed by the increase in pension scheme liabilities, and hence the net interest charge in the income and
expenditure account in respect of the pension scheme rose by £0.3m.
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Balance sheet
Fixed assets

The continuation of the Estates Strategy remains the University’s principal capital expenditure, and £13.5m was
spent in the year on projects within the Strategy, including £9.5m spent in completing the £20m Postgraduate and
CPD Centre and Business School refurbishment and cladding in Luton, and £1.4m on improving sports facilities at
its Bedford Campus.

In addition to the Estates Strategy, £7.3m was spent on core day-to-day facilities for students and staff including
£0.8m investment in student PCs and audio visual equipment in teaching rooms at all campuses, and an additional
£0.8m in teaching equipment within faculties.

An interim revaluation of the University’s land and buildings was also undertaken in July 2013, to update the
valuation made in July 2010 and comply with the requirements of FRS15. The net effect was an increase in the total
value of land and buildings of £1.4m.

Debtors

The increase in debtors reflects timing differences in the billing of commercial debt.

The continued application of strong debt management procedures helped maintain in-year student debt at 2012
levels, notwithstanding the increase in fees for new UK and EU undergraduates, and recoveries continued to be
made of debt for earlier academic years. This improvement notwithstanding, the current economic climate
continues to affect debt recovery, and prudent provisions have been retained to reflect the ongoing collection risk
for the debt remaining.

Creditors

The construction of the Postgraduate and CPD Centre and the timing of invoicing for the construction meant that
there were significant capital accruals at 31 July 2012. Whilst the Estates Strategy works continued at July 2013,
the scale of the projects then in progress was lower than the previous year, hence the level of accruals was also
lower.

Deferred income primarily comprises fees for students whose programmes of study straddle the financial year,
including February starters. Recruitment levels in February 2013 were lower than those in February 2012, and
deferred income is correspondingly lower.

Provisions

The University is continuing to provide for dilapidation costs which would be expected to arise on its leased halls
of residence when the respective leases expire. The provision represents the discounted present value of the
liability, calculated using current construction costs, expected rates of construction industry inflation and the
University’s cost of capital. The increase in the provision in the year principally reflects the unwinding of the
discount as the period to expiry of the leases reduces.

Other provisions include amounts relating to potential tax liabilities. The University settled one of these liabilities
in full during the year, resulting in a payment and release from the provision.

Pensions

The pension deficit increased from £23.8m to £27.4m primarily as
low bond yields have reduced the discount rate applied to the
pension liabilities, and hence increased their discounted present
value. This change has more than offset the strong returns on
assets, which have seen their values rise by 19.6% in the year.

Cash flow
Operating cash flow remained strong but was at a lower level
than in 2012, principally because of working capital movements,
and creditors in particular, where the reduced level of accruals
was compounded by a fall in payments received on account from
prospective students for 2013/14 registration. Nonetheless the
ratio of operating cash flow to income of 12.9% places the
University significantly above the sector mean of 5.0%.

It is the University’s intention to use its cash reserves to service
its operational needs whilst also progressing the Estates Strategy
and other investment programmes. The University remains in a
position whereby all of its committed capital projects can be
undertaken from existing cash reserves without recourse to
external financing.
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Outlook
The University will remain in a strong financial position despite slightly lower home recruitment, with a number cap
from HEFCE which has reduced by 100 students and also lower international recruitment as the Government’s
tighter visa rules and policies continue to impact the University. The University expects to remain amongst the
leading recruiters of international students in 2013/14.

The University believes it remains well placed to adapt to any change in the study patterns or expectations of
students or further liberalisation of the UK higher education sector as it offers a range of full- and part-time courses
to suit the local and national market, and has some of the most modern teaching facilities and accommodation in
the sector.

The risk to income levels is also impacted by the cap on UK and EU undergraduate fees being maintained at £9,000,
with no inflationary increase permitted for 2013/14, and a low prospect of this cap being lifted in 2014/15 or even
beyond.

The move to a more market-led higher education sector, albeit with limitations, and the consumerisation of
students will necessitate continued investment in facilities and student services in order to maintain recruitment
levels. This will in turn require even more robust financial management and forecasting.

The University has met this challenge thus far, but is not complacent in this regard, particularly given the forecast
decrease in its cash balances as its Estates Strategy develops over the next two years, and beyond, and having
regard to upwards pressure in its cost base.

In addition to general inflationary pressures, a number of components of staff related costs have the potential to
increase as a consequence of factors largely beyond the University’s control, as follows:

•  Public sector pay scales continue to mean that a majority of staff receive an annual increment based on their
length of service in addition to any other increase. In the short term therefore there will continue to be upwards
pressure on the University’s largest item of expenditure.

•  Whilst reform of public sector pension schemes may result in a re-balancing of funding between employees and
employers, the fact that deficits exist at present within the schemes to which the University contributes means
that increased employer contributions are likely in the short term.

•  The introduction of auto enrolment in 2013 is likely to require increased employer contributions by the University
as pension scheme membership levels increase.
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Statement on corporate governance and internal controls

Corporate governance covering the year 2012/13, including the period up to
approval of the financial statements

The University’s objectives, powers and framework of governance are set out in its Instrument and Articles of
Government. The University is directed by a Board of Governors who are also trustees. The Board of Governors
is unambiguously and collectively responsible for overseeing the University’s activities, determining its future
direction and fostering an environment in which its mission is achieved and the potential of all students is
maximised.

The Board ensures compliance with the statutes, ordinances and provisions regulating the University and its
framework of governance and, subject to these, it takes all final decisions on matters of fundamental concern to
the institution. The Board recognises that, as a body entrusted with both public and private funds, it has a
particular duty to observe the highest standards of corporate governance at all times. In carrying out its
responsibilities, it takes full account of the Committee of University Chairs’ Governance Code of Practice and
Principles, which it formally adopted in 2005. The Board also takes care to ensure that it complies with the
revised Code of Practice that was published in March 2009.

The University is committed to demonstrating best practice in all areas of corporate governance. This summary
describes the manner in which the University has had due regard to the principles set out in the UK Corporate
Governance Code, issued in June 2010 insofar as they apply to the higher education sector. As an independent
corporation deriving its legal status from the Education Reform Act 1988, the University is satisfied that it has
complied with the provisions of the Code insofar as they are applicable.

The University is an exempt charity and is subject to the requirements of the Charities Act 2011. The University
confirms that it has had due regard for the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit and that required
statements appear elsewhere in these financial statements.

The Board of Governors comprises up to 25 members, including the Vice Chancellor. It has a majority of
independent members, who are external and independent of the institution. The Board’s membership includes
lay and academic persons, together with student and staff governors who are elected by those constituencies.

The Board as a whole, individual governors and officers of the University are required to conduct themselves at
all times in accordance with the Nolan Committee’s standards in public life which embrace selflessness, integrity,
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. All governors are required to exercise their
responsibilities in the interests of the institution as a whole rather than as the representative of any constituency.
The University maintains and makes publicly available a register of interests of all members of the Board of
Governors, and has established procedures for managing conflicts of interest where these arise.

In May 2005, the Board formally adopted a Statement of Primary Responsibilities. The University does not
publish an annual report but the Statement is published widely, including on the internet, along with the names
of key individuals and a summary of the responsibilities which the Board of Governors delegates to
management and which are derived directly from the Articles of Government.

The roles of the Chair and the Vice Chairs of the Board of Governors are separated from the role of the
University’s Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive. Matters specially reserved to the Board of Governors for
decision are set out in the Articles of Government, by custom and under the Financial Memorandum with the
Higher Education Funding Council for England.

The Chair is responsible for the leadership of the Board of Governors and is ultimately responsible for its
effectiveness. The Chair is responsible for ensuring that the University is well connected with its stakeholders.

The Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive is responsible for advising the Board on strategic direction and for the
management of the institution, and is the accounting officer in respect of the use of Higher Education Funding
Council for England funds. The Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive is accountable to the Board of Governors
which has set down the authority which it delegates to him, having regard to those responsibilities conferred
directly by the Articles of Government.
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Conduct of business
The Board of Governors meets at least four times each year. One of these meetings is designated as a strategy
meeting.

The Board of Governors has established six standing committees to help it to take forward its work. These are:

•  The Resources and Employment Committee

•  The Audit and Compliance Committee

•  The Student Experience Committee

•  The Nominations Committee

•  The University Campus Milton Keynes Committee

•  The Remuneration Committee

The Resources and Employment Committee, inter alia, recommends to the Board of Governors the University’s
strategic plans, the annual revenue and capital budgets, and the annual financial statements. The Committee is
responsible for monitoring University performance using a balanced scorecard approach which was first adopted in
2004 and has been subsequently reviewed and refined on an annual basis. The Committee is also responsible for
reviewing the development and implementation of the University’s human resources strategy.

A summary of the Audit and Compliance Committee’s responsibilities for ensuring the efficiency and effectiveness
of systems of internal control is provided in a later section of this Statement. The Committee also has oversight of
the University’s arrangements for ensuring compliance with legislation and regulations, including diversity,
equalities, health and safety legislation, and information and data as it applies both to staff and students. It is also
responsible for ensuring that the University complies with the accountability requirements set out in the Financial
Memorandum with the Higher Education Funding Council for England and those of other funding bodies, together
with the University’s Instrument and Articles of Government. It also ensures that a register of interests is maintained
and annually reviewed for Governors and senior staff of the University.

The Student Experience Committee is responsible for reviewing arrangements for monitoring the experience of
prospective, present and past students and how the University gains their views and incorporates them within its
activities. It makes recommendations to the Resources and Employment Committee on proposals for investment in
student facilities and reviews the University’s strategies for supporting the increased retention of students and
establishing relationships with alumni. In consultation with the Academic Board, it also ensures that rules are made
with respect to the conduct of students including procedures for suspension and expulsion.

The Nominations Committee considers new appointments to the Board and its committees and also ensures a
balance of skills amongst Governors that is sufficient to enable the Board to meet its primary responsibilities and to
ensure stakeholder confidence. The Committee specifies the role and capabilities required of new members, based
on an ongoing evaluation of the balance of skills and experience within the Board of Governors. Vacancies are
widely publicised within and outside the institution.

The University Campus Milton Keynes Committee oversees and monitors the development of UCMK. The
Committee ensures that UCMK is developed in accordance with its business plan and that its progress is consistent
with the heads of terms document concluded between the University and the Council. The Committee also receives
feedback and comments from local stakeholders via the Milton Keynes Advisory Group about the progress and
activities of UCMK and its engagement with the Milton Keynes community.

The Remuneration Committee determines the annual remuneration of the Vice Chancellor and the Clerk to the
Governors, and provides guidelines to the Vice Chancellor for determining the salaries of senior staff. The
Committee is also responsible for reviewing severance arrangements for senior staff, taking account of guidance
provided by the Higher Education Funding Council for England.

All Committees are required to report to the Board regularly, invariably after each committee’s meeting. The Vice
Chancellor also provides a report on key issues at each meeting. Senior staff of the University are present at each
Board meeting to expand on reports as appropriate and to answer any questions that may arise. The proceedings of
the Board of Governors are conducted in as open a manner as possible. Information and papers are available to the
public and restrictions upon public access are only applied when the wider interests of the University or the public
interest demand, including the observance of contractual obligations.

The Board of Governors keeps its effectiveness under regular review. It undertakes a formal and rigorous evaluation
of its own effectiveness annually, and ensures that a parallel review is undertaken by the Academic Board and its
committees at least once every five years. Effectiveness is measured against the Statement of Primary Responsibilities,
compliance with the Governance Code of Practice and other guidance issued by the Committee of University Chairs
on the characteristics of effective governing bodies. A formal report of the findings of the review is presented to the
Nominations Committee each year.

A report on University performance against the agreed indicators in the balanced scorecard is also reviewed at six
monthly intervals by the Board. There is also regular reporting on particular strategic objectives. The indicators in
the scorecard are revised annually to reflect priorities within the strategic plan, and these revisions are presented in
reports to individual committees and to the Governing Body as a whole.
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Newly appointed governors are offered individual induction programmes which include meetings with senior
staff of the University, and mentoring by a longer standing governor. Governors are provided with details of
seminars and conferences arranged by the Leadership Foundation for Higher Education, HEFCE and other
bodies. They are also encouraged to attend a wide variety of University events and are able to visit individual
faculties, departments or classes.

Internal control
The key elements of the University’s system of internal control, which is designed to support the financial
responsibilities of the Board of Governors, include:

•  Clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, senior officers of the University.

•  A comprehensive short- and medium-term planning process, supplemented by detailed annual income,
expenditure, capital and cash flow budgets.

•  A regular review of institutional performance and of financial results, involving variance reporting and updates
of forecast out-turns.

•  Clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure.

•  Procedures for the management of investment and risk.

•  A professional internal audit service, with terms of reference which reflect guidance issued by the Higher
Education Funding Council for England, and whose annual programme is approved by the Audit and
Compliance Committee.

The Audit and Compliance Committee is responsible for meeting, at least quarterly, with the External Auditors
and the Internal Auditor of the University and reviewing their work. The Committee considers detailed reports
together with recommendations for the improvement of the University’s systems of internal control and
management’s response and implementation plans. It also receives and considers reports from the Higher
Education Funding Council for England and other assurance sources as they affect the University’s business and
monitor adherence with the regulatory requirements, including the need for ensuring the quality of data
returned for funding purposes. It reviews the University’s annual financial statements prior to their submission
for approval by the Board of Governors to ensure that they have been prepared in accordance with the HEFCE
Accounts Direction for the preparation of the financial statements. The Committee is also responsible for
reviewing the University’s accounting policies. Whilst senior staff of the University attend meetings of the Audit
and Compliance Committee as necessary, they are not members of the Committee.

The Audit and Compliance Committee undertakes an annual review of its effectiveness. This involves completion
of an annual survey by Committee members, the internal and external audit services and senior staff who attend
its meetings. Responses from each of these constituencies are separately identified within a report of the
survey’s conclusions that is considered by the Committee and the outcomes of the survey are reported to the
Board of Governors.

The Board’s review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the executive managers
within the institution, who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework, and by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.

Risk management
The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve policies,
aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The
Board is responsible for ensuring that a sound system of controls is maintained and reviews the University’s risk
management policy annually to ensure that it remains effective and fit for purpose.

The following processes have been established:

•  The executive Risk Management Steering Group meets regularly to oversee risk management processes and
is responsible for the provision of reports setting out risk indicators and possible control issues to the
Governing Body and its Committees.

•  A corporate risk and control register, covering business, operational and compliance risks as well as financial
risks, is maintained throughout the year.  Risks are prioritised according to defined criteria of likelihood and
impact.

•  The corporate risk register is dynamic and is regularly reviewed against institutional objectives. It is kept up to
date by the Risk Management Steering Group which liaises with executive and Governors’ committees.

•  The Board requires regular reports from executive managers on the steps they are taking to manage key risks
as part of their ongoing operations, including progress reports on key projects and on internal control
activities.

•  Risk management techniques are incorporated into the operational business of the University, including the
management of major projects.
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•  Senior managers and heads of department receive training on the University’s risk management systems.

•  The Audit and Compliance Committee receives reports from the Internal Auditor on the adequacy and effectiveness
of specific systems of internal control together with recommendations for improvement.

•  The Internal Auditor reports annually to the Audit and Compliance Committee on its independent opinion on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control, together with recommendations for improvement.

•  The Audit and Compliance Committee receives comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.

A review of the University’s overall system of risk management undertaken by the Internal Auditor in 2012/13 was
very positive.

Financial responsibilities of the Board of Governors
In accordance with the Articles of Government, the Board of Governors is responsible for the oversight of the
administration and management of the affairs of the University and is required to present audited financial
statements for each financial year. The statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of
Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education, 2007.

The Board of Governors is responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the University and enable it to ensure that the financial statements comply with
relevant legislation and are prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice – Accounting for
Further and Higher Education and other relevant accounting standards. Within the terms and conditions of a Financial
Memorandum agreed between the Higher Education Funding Council for England and the Board of Governors of the
University, the Board of Governors through its designated accountable officer, is required to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the University and of the
surplus or deficit for that year.

In causing the accounts to be prepared, the Board of Governors has to ensure that:

•  suitable UK accounting policies are selected and applied consistently

•  judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable and prudent

•  applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements

•  financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. After making enquiries, the Board of Governors has a
reasonable expectation that the University has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these accounts.

The Board of Governors has taken reasonable steps to ensure that:

•  funds from the Higher Education Funding Council for England are used only for the purposes for which they have
been given and in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Funding Council and any other conditions
which the Funding Council may from time to time prescribe

•  the assets of the University are safeguarded and reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities have been taken

•  the Board of Governors’ report and other information included in the financial statements are prepared in
accordance with relevant legislation in the United Kingdom

•  there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public funds and funds from other
sources

•  the management of the University’s resources and expenditure is economic, efficient and effective.

Mr Alan Cook CBE

Chair of the Board of Governors

21 November 2013
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Trustees and Members of the Board of Governors, 2012/13,
including the period up to the approval of the financial statements

Mr Alan Cook CBE Chairman, Highways Agency;  and Chair of Governors
Chairman, Irish Life and Permanent Group Holdings

Ms Tabitha Aldrich Smith Communications Director, Balfour Beatty Retired�February�2013

Professor Helen Bailey Nominee of the academic staff Resigned�October�2013

Mr Stephen Ball Chief Executive, Lockheed Martin UK

Professor David Barrett Teaching nominee of Academic Board

Mr Clem Brohier Director of Finance and Performance,
The National Archives

Dr Geoffrey Copland CBE Former Vice Chancellor, University of Westminster

Mrs Jane Creasy Leadership Consultant, Creasy-Lockyer Ltd Retired�May�2013

Professor Les Ebdon CBE DL Vice Chancellor Retired�August�2012

Ms Alison FitzGerald Joined�November�2012

Mr Adrian Guttridge Executive Director Insurance, Xchanging Joined�November�2012

(Ins-sure Services)

Mr Jeff Halliwell Chair, Cafedirect plc; 
Chair, Airport Coordination Limited; 
Non-Executive Director, Working Links Limited;
Board Member, Food Standards Agency;
Non-Executive Director, NHS Norfolk and Waveney
Trustee/Director, Shaw Trust; and 
Consultant/Advisor to SMEs, including via the 
Government’s Growth Accelerator programme

Mrs June Jarrett Principal, Haringey Sixth Form Centre Joined�May�2013

Mr Oliver Johnson Strategy and Marketing Consultant Retired�June�2013

Ms Ann Keen Former Health Minister Retired�September�2012

Dr Martin Lockett Dean of Academic Development,
Ashridge Business School

Mr Daniel Login President, Students’ Union

Ms Jill Millns Interim HR Director

Dr Steven Monger Godfrey Owner, Grant Monger Godfrey

Ms Debbie Moore Human Resources Director, Spirit Pub Company Joined�March�2013

Professor Richard Parish Chief Executive, Royal Society for Public Health Joined�March�2013

Mr Bill Rammell Vice Chancellor Appointed�1�September�2012

Ms Carol Richmond Chief Risk Officer, AON Limited

Mr Warwick Riley Nominee of the professional support staff

Ms Katie Ross Vice President, Students’ Union Retired�July�2013

Dr Phil Smith Chairman, Intercontinental Utilities Group Plc;
Chairman, Entrust; and
Chairman, Pulse Group Holdings Ltd

Ms Paige Walker Vice President, Students’ Union Joined�July�2012

Mr Paul Wells Executive Chairman, Retired�May�2013

Wells & Young’s Brewers
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the
Board of Governors of the University of Bedfordshire
We have audited the group and University financial statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) of the University of
Bedfordshire for the year ended 31 July 2013 which comprise the Consolidated Income and Expenditure
Account, the Consolidated and University Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Statement
of Consolidated Total Recognised Gains and Losses, the Accounting Policies and the related notes. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the Board of Governors, in accordance with paragraph 13(2) of the University's
Articles of Government and section 124B of the Education Reform Act 1988. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Board of Governors those matters we are required to state to it in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Board of Governors for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Board of Governors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Financial Responsibilities of the Board of Governors set out on page
15, the Board of Governors is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair
view. Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s
and University’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness
of significant accounting estimates made by the Board of Governors; and the overall presentation of the
financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Report of the
Governors to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the group and University as at 31 July 2013 and of the

group’s income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and

Higher Education.

Opinion on other matters prescribed in the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice
issued under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992
In our opinion, in all material respects:

•  funds from whatever source administered by the University for specific purposes have been properly applied

to those purposes;

•  income has been applied in accordance with the University’s Articles of Government; and

•  funds provided by HEFCE have been applied in accordance with the Financial Memorandum and any other

terms and conditions attached to them.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matter, where the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice issued

under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•  the statement of internal control included as part of the Corporate Governance Statement is inconsistent with

our knowledge of the group and University.

Andrew Sayers

For and on behalf of KPMG, LLP, Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants

12th Floor, 15 Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5GL
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Principal Accounting Policies

1 Statement of accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently to items which are considered material

in relation to the financial statements.

2 Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the

revaluation of land, buildings and equipment inherited from Bedfordshire County Council and

endowment asset investments, and in accordance with both the Statement of Recommended Practice –

Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2007 and applicable accounting standards. They conform

to the guidance published by the Higher Education Funding Council for England

3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of the University, its trading

subsidiary undertaking, University of Bedfordshire Enterprises Limited, and its dormant subsidiaries,

Bedford Business School Limited, Bedfordshire Business School Limited, Milton Keynes Business

School Limited, UoB Student Accommodation (Luton) Limited and The Centre for Competitiveness

Limited, for the financial year to 31 July 2013.

Intragroup transactions are eliminated on consolidation and all income and expenditure relates to

external activities only.

The consolidated financial statements do not include those of the University of Bedfordshire Students’

Union as it is considered that the University has a limited financial interest therein and no control or

significant influence over policy decisions.

4 Recognition of income
Recurrent grants from funding bodies are recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account in the

period in which they are receivable.

Tuition fees represent student fees received and receivable attributable to the current accounting period.

Income from endowments and donations, research grants, contracts and other services rendered is

included to the extent of the expenditure incurred during the year, together with any related

contributions towards overhead costs.

All income from short term deposits is credited to the Income and Expenditure Account on an accruals

basis.

5 Land and buildings
Land is held freehold and is not depreciated as it is considered to have an indefinite useful life.

Buildings are depreciated over their expected useful lives of fifty years or less, if so assessed by a

qualified surveyor as part of a valuation exercise, with the exception of buildings acquired, which are

depreciated over their estimated remaining useful lives at the date of acquisition, assessed on an

individual basis. Leasehold property is depreciated over the life of the lease. Major refurbishments are

capitalised and written off over varying periods of up to a maximum of ten years, according to their

expected useful lives.

Where buildings are acquired with the aid of specific grants, the buildings are capitalised and

depreciated as above. The related grants are treated as deferred capital grants and are released to

income over the expected useful lives of the buildings to which they relate. Deferred credits in respect of

such grants, which are attributable to subsequent financial years, are separately identified on the

Balance Sheet.

For new developments, design costs and professional fees incurred in the financial year are capitalised

only when planning permission has been received. Where planning permission has not been received

by the end of a financial year, costs and fees are recognised in full in the Income and Expenditure

Account, and are not capitalised retrospectively in the event that planning permission is received in a

subsequent financial year.

Assets under construction are accounted for at cost and are not depreciated until they are brought into use.

6 Equipment
Equipment costing less than £10,000 is written off in the year of acquisition. In 2011/12 the capitalisation

level was £1,000.

Capitalised equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over its expected useful life as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10 years

Other office and teaching equipment 5 years

Personal computers (PCs) 4 years

Computer equipment other than PCs 5 years

Leased equipment Over the term of the lease
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Where equipment is acquired with the aid of specific grants, it is capitalised and depreciated as above.

The related grants are treated as deferred capital grants and are released to income over the expected

useful life of the equipment to which they relate. Deferred credits in respect of such grants, which are

attributable to subsequent financial years, are separately identified on the Balance Sheets.

7 Heritage assets
In accordance with FRS30, ‘Heritage assets’, acquisitions since 1 August 1999 have been capitalised at

cost or, in the case of donated assets, at expert valuation on receipt. Heritage assets are not depreciated

since their long economic life and high residual value mean that any depreciation would not be

material.

8 Leases
Fixed assets held under finance leases and the related lease obligations are recorded in the Balance

Sheets at the fair value of the leased assets at the inception of the lease. The excess of lease payments

over recorded lease obligations is treated as finance charges and these are amortised over each lease

term to give a constant rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations.

Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the Income and Expenditure Account in equal annual

amounts over the periods of the leases.

9 Revaluation
In order to reflect the full value to the University of its land and buildings, the estate is subject to a full

revaluation every five years with interim valuations by year three. The last full revaluation was applied

as at 31 July 2010 and an interim revaluation was undertaken as at 31 July 2013. The University’s

Property Advisors, Gerald Eve LLP, carried out the valuation and have included specialised properties at

depreciated replacement cost and non-specialised properties on an existing use basis. The valuation

takes account of impairment and events and changes to circumstances that indicate the carrying

amount of the fixed assets may not be recoverable.

University of Bedfordshire 19 Financial Statements



10 Maintenance of premises and equipment
The University has a five-year rolling maintenance plan that is reviewed on an annual basis. The cost of

routine corrective maintenance is charged to the Income and Expenditure Account as incurred. The

University may set aside sums to meet the expected dilapidation costs on leasehold property.

11 Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

12 Endowment assets and fixed asset investments
Endowment assets are included in the Balance Sheets at market value. Other fixed asset investments

are stated at cost less any provision for permanent diminution in value.

13 Cash
Cash, for the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, comprises cash in hand and deposits repayable on
demand, less overdrafts repayable on demand.

Deposits which are not available within 24 hours without penalty are classified as liquid resources in the
Cash Flow Statement.

14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the University has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a

result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

15 Pension schemes
The two principal pension schemes of which the University’s employees are members are the Bedford

Borough Council Pension Fund (BBCPF), and the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS). Both are defined

benefit schemes that are externally funded and contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension

Scheme.

The assets of the BBCPF are held separately from those of the University. Pension scheme assets are

measured using market values. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit method

and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and

currency to the liability. Any pension scheme deficit or asset is recognised in full. The movement in the

pension scheme deficit or asset is split between operating charges, finance items and, in the Statement

of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, actuarial gains and losses.

The University is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the TPS on a

consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS17 ‘Retirement benefits’, accounts for

the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the Income

and Expenditure Account represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the

accounting period.

16 Taxation status
The University meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes as it is

considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, the

University is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within

categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of

Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable

purposes.

The University is partially exempt in respect of Value Added Tax, as its main activity is the supply of

education which is an exempt supply for the purposes of VAT. Accordingly, it can only recover a minor

element of VAT charged on its inputs. Irrecoverable VAT on supplies and services received is included in

the related costs in the financial statements. It is also added to the cost of tangible fixed assets as

appropriate, where the inputs themselves are tangible fixed assets by nature.

As the VAT on supplies and services received exceeds the VAT on sales, VAT represents a net cost to the

University.

The University’s subsidiary companies are liable to corporation tax and VAT in the same way as any

commercial organisation. The University’s only trading subsidiary pays over its profits chargeable to

corporation tax to the University under a Deed of Covenant and therefore has no taxable profits.
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Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account 
for the Year Ended 31 July 2013

Note 2013 2012

£’000 £’000

Income
Funding body grants 1 26,741 37,318)

Tuition fees and education contracts 2 90,688 75,869)

Research grants and contracts 3 3,083 2,876)

Other operating income 4 11,799 12,913)

Endowment and investment income 5 1,182 1,285)

Total income 133,493 130,261)

Expenditure
Staff costs 6 61,079 57,141)

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 10 7,670 6,561)

Accelerated depreciation in respect of owned property 11 2,937 6,748)

Other operating expenses 7 45,066 45,481)

Interest and other finance costs 8 1,557 1,239)

Total expenditure 118,309 117,170)

Surplus after depreciation of tangible fixed assets at valuation 

but before taxation 15,184) 13,091)

Taxation 9 –) –)

Surplus after depreciation of assets at valuation and taxation 15,184) 13,091)

Net surplus for the year reimbursed from 

accumulated income in endowment funds
146) 146)

Surplus for the year retained within general reserves 21 15,330) 13,237)

The above results relate wholly to continuing operations of the University and its subsidiaries.

Consolidated Statement of Historical Cost Surpluses and
Deficits for the Year Ended 31 July 2013

Note 2013 2012
£’000 £’000

Surplus after depreciation of tangible fixed assets at valuation 

but before taxation
15,184 13,091

Difference between an historical cost depreciation charge and the 

actual depreciation charge for the year calculated on the revalued amount
21 993 993

Accelerated release in respect of owned property 11 1,934 5,386

Historical cost surplus for the year before taxation 18,111 19,470

Historical cost surplus for the year after taxation 18,111 19,470
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Consolidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses 
for the Year Ended 31 July 2013

Note 2013 2012
£’000 £’000

Surplus for the year retained within general reserves 15,184) 13,091)

Revaluation of endowment asset investments 21 207) (10)

New endowments 21) 30)

Revaluation of land and buildings 1,131) –)

Actuarial losses in respect of the Local Government Pension Scheme 27 (2,452) (5,416)

Total recognised gains relating to the year 14,091) 7,695)

Reconciliation 2013 2012
£’000 £’000

Opening reserves and endowments 115,498) 107,803)

Total recognised gains for the year 14,091) 7,695)

Closing reserves and endowments 129,589) 115,498)



Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2013

Consolidated University

Note 2013 2012 2013 2012
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 10 142,310 133,266 142,263 133,156

Investments 12 28 28 39 39

142,338 133,294 142,302 133,195

Endowment assets 13 1,600 1,518 1,600 1,518

Current assets
Stocks 39 30 39 30

Debtors 14 8,019 7,397 8,230 7,604

Cash at bank and in hand 61,449 63,726 61,410 63,621

69,507 71,153 69,679 71,255

Creditors: Amounts falling due 
within one year 15 (21,111) (28,781) (20,998) (28,471)

Net current assets 48,396) 42,372) 48,681) 42,784)

Total assets less current liabilities 192,334 177,184 192,583 177,497

Creditors: Amounts falling due 
after more than one year 16 (16,347) (17,065) (16,347) (17,065)

Provisions for liabilities 18 (6,088) (6,978) (6,088) (6,978)

Net assets excluding pension liability 169,899) 153,141) 170,148) 153,454)

Net pension liability 27 (27,444) (23,832) (27,444) (23,832)

Net assets including pension liability 142,455) 129,309) 142,704) 129,622)
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Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2013 (continued)

Consolidated University

Note 2013 2012 2013 2012
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred capital grants 19 12,866) 13,811) 12,833) 13,721)

Endowments
Expendable 20 1,600) 1,518) 1,600) 1,518)

Reserves
Income and expenditure account

excluding pension reserve
21 100,508) 81,091) 100,790) 81,494)

Pension reserve 27 (27,444) (23,832) (27,444) (23,832)

Income and expenditure account

including pension reserve 73,064) 57,259) 73,346) 57,662)

Revaluation reserve 21 54,925) 56,721) 54,925) 56,721)

Total funds 142,455) 129,309) 142,704) 129,622)

The financial statements on pages 21 to 44 were approved by the Board of Governors on 21 November 2013 

and signed on their behalf by:

Mr Alan Cook CBE

Chair of the Board of Governors

Mr Bill Rammell

Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the Year Ended 31 July 2013

Note 2013 2012

£’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 25 17,223 29,098

Returns on investment and servicing of finance
Income from endowments 57 64

Other interest received 1,253 1,028

Interest paid (505) (518)

Net cash inflow from returns on investment 
and servicing of finance 805) 574)

Taxation –) –)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (20,124) (14,001)

Deferred capital grants received 358) 258)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets –) 18)

New endowments 21) 30)

Proceeds from sale of endowment units 39) 79)

Net cash outflow on capital expenditure and financial investment (19,706) (13,616)

Net cash inflow before use of management of liquid resources 
and financing (1,678) 16,056)

Management of liquid resources
Decrease/(increase) in short-term deposits 14,754) (15,460)

Financing
Repayment of mortgages and loans (686) (870)

Net cash outflow from management of liquid resources and financing 14,068) (16,330)

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 12,390) (274)

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement on net funds

2013 2012

£’000 £’000

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 12,390) (274)

Cash (inflow from)/outflow to short-term deposits (14,754) 15,460)

Changes in net funds resulting from cashflows 686) 870)

Non-cash movement in net funds –) –)

Movement in the year (1,678) 16,056)

Net funds at the beginning of the year 47,167) 31,111)

Net funds at the end of the year 45,489) 47,167)

Cash deposits which cannot be realised within 24 hours without penalty are classified as liquid resources in the
Cash Flow Statement and are included within cash at bank and in hand in the Balance Sheet.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1  Funding body grants
Continuing Acquisition 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Recurrent grants

Higher Education Funding Council for England 18,445 4,959 16,292 24,987

National College for Teaching and Leadership 

(formerly the Teaching Agency) 456 0 3,254 5,306

Specific grants

Learning and teaching 769 67 159 313

Higher Education Innovation Fund 1,067 0 484 522

Improving retention 2,745 787 4,144 3,561

Other grants 3,267 0 1,216 1,443

Release of deferred capital grants (note 19) 1,192 0 1,192 1,186

28,012 10,643 26,741 37,318

2  Tuition fees and education contracts

Continuing Acquisition 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Full-time home and EU students 7,636 3,879 49,029 30,313

Part-time students 2,312 593 5,220 3,970

International students 9,125 187 25,821 30,823

NHS contracts 8,358 0 10,618 10,763

27,741 4,661 90,688 75,869

3   Research grants and contracts

Continuing Acquisition 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Research councils and UK-based charities 302 8 127 378

Governmental 8,358 0 946 626

Industry and commerce 1,008 1 2,010 1,872

1,310 9 3,083 2,876

4  Other operating income

Continuing Acquisition 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Residences, catering and conferences 3,317 1,164 5,722 6,166

Other services rendered 1,563 267 3,484 3,639

Release of capital grants (note 19) 24 0 111 110

Other income 856 109 2,482 2,998

6,476 1,540 11,799 12,913
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

5   Endowment and investment income
Continuing Acquisition 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income from expendable endowments 85 0 57 160

Income from short-term investments 196 0 1,095 1,104

Bank interest 702 0 30 21

983 0 1,182 1,285

6  Staff costs and numbers
Continuing Acquisition 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Staff costs:

Salaries 26,821 6,320 50,564 47,191

Social security costs 2,043 481 4,103 3,773

Other pension costs 2,951 695 6,303 6,020

FRS17 adjustment 624 147 109 157)

32,439 7,643 61,079 57,141

Emoluments of the Vice Chancellor:
2013 2012

£’000 £’000

Current Vice Chancellor (appointed 1 September 2012)

Salary 2,043 481 183 –

Benefits in kind 2,951 695 3 –

Pension contributions 624 147 25 –

32,439 7,643 211 –

Previous Vice Chancellor (retired 31 August 2012)

Salary 2,043 481 39 275

Benefits in kind 2,951 695 – 5

Pension contributions 624 147 3 34

32,439 7,643 42 314

Mr Bill Rammell joined the University in August 2012, and took up his post as Vice Chancellor on 1 September 2012.

Professor Les Ebdon CBE DL retired as Vice Chancellor on 31 August 2012.

Higher paid employees are defined in accordance with the Higher Education Funding Council for England’s Accounts

Direction as all employees whose emoluments are equal to or greater than £100,000 per annum. The remuneration,

excluding pension contributions, for higher paid staff other than the Vice Chancellor, was in the following ranges:

2013 2012

£100,000 - £109,999 5 1

£110,000 - £119,999 1 1

£120,000 - £129,999 – 1

£140,000 - £149,999 1 1

£160,000 - £169,999 – 1

£170,000 - £179,999 1 –

£200,000 - £209,999 – 1

£210,000 - £219,999 1 –

A payment for compensation for loss of office amounting to £98,000 (2012: £nil) has been included in the financial

statements in respect of an individual included in the above analysis.

The average monthly number of persons employed by the University, expressed as full time equivalents, was:

Continuing Acquisition 2013 2012

Academic departments 319 120 575 539

Student support 319 120 378 318

Administrative and central services 468 78 256 254

787 198 1,209 1,111
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

7  Other operating expenses
ContinuingAcquisition 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Staff related expenditure 1,876 224 2,937 2,435

Course consumables 207 8 435 423

Student related expenditure 8,710 2,513 7,659 7,146

Partner payments 1,876 224 6,237 8,619

Registration, examination and accreditation costs 52 2 234 158

Printing, reprographics and stationery 850 8 907 795

Books, periodicals and information services 635 135 1,335 980

Promotional costs 990 25 1,798 770

General office costs 1,264 103 1,458 1,312

Health and safety expenditure 94 18 70 70

Insurance 224 79 247 247

Legal and professional fees 2,680 31 7,250 8,805

Computer and equipment costs 1,932 134 3,485 3,089

Vehicle fleet costs 34 87 366 306

Premises related expenditure 7,016 1,300 8,463 9,181

Reversal of previous diminution in value of land and buildings 299 194 (224) –

Catering costs 299 194 1,628 1,313

Internal auditors’ remuneration - audit services 103 0 148 94

External auditor’s remuneration - audit services 48 0 53 58

External auditor’s remuneration - other services 57 0 39 37

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 52 0 116 3

Other expenses 573 56 425 (360)

27,696 4,748 45,066 45,481

8  Interest and other finance costs
Continuing Acquisition 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Loans not wholly repayable within five years 718 376 506 515

Net charge on pension scheme 209 49 1,051 724

951 425 1,557 1,239

9  Taxation

The University did not incur a tax charge or credit in either the current or preceding years.

At 31 July 2013 a deferred tax asset of £19,000 was unprovided as it was not considered probable that the balance

would be recoverable in the foreseeable future. At 31 July 2012 there was neither a deferred tax asset or liability.

The University meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes as it is considered to

pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, the University is potentially

exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11

of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such

income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

10  Tangible assets

Consolidated
Land and buildings Assets Other

under owned
Freehold Leasehold construction assets Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation

At 1 August 2012 135,222) 1,605) 7,656 27,793) 172,276)
Additions 3,339) 258) 10,361 4,454) 18,412)
Reclassifications 16,029) –) (16,524) 495) –)
Revaluation adjustment (29,179) –) – –) (29,179)
Disposals (62) –) (3) (219) (284)

At 31 July 2013 125,349) 1,863) 1,490 32,523) 161,225)

Depreciation

At 1 August 2012 24,208) 883) – 13,919) 39,010)
Charge for the year 3,502) 124) – 4,044) 7,670)
Accelerated depreciation in respect of 
owned property

2,937) –) – –) 2,937)

Revaluation adjustment (30,534) –) – –) (30,534)
Disposals (16) –) – (152) (168)

At 31 July 2013 97) 1,007) – 17,811) 18,915)

Net book value

At 31 July 2013 125,252) 856) 1,490 14,712) 142,310)

At 31 July 2012 111,014) 722) 7,656 13,874) 133,266)

Represented by:

Inherited 47,895) –) – –) 47,895)
Financed by capital grants 12,058) –) – 808) 12,866)
Other 65,299) 856) 1,490 13,904) 81,549)

Net book value at 31 July 2013 125,252) 856) 1,490 14,712) 142,310)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

10  Tangible assets (continued)

University
Land and buildings Assets Other

under owned
Freehold Leasehold construction assets Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation

At 1 August 2012 135,222) 1,605) 7,656 27,465) 171,948)
Additions 3,339) 258) 10,361 4,453) 18,411)
Reclassifications 16,029) –) (16,524) 495) –)
Revaluation adjustment (29,179) –) –) –) (29,179)
Disposals (62) –) (3) (219) (284)

At 31 July 2013 125,349) 1,863) 1,490 32,194) 160,896)

Depreciation

At 1 August 2012 24,208) 883) – 13,701) 38,792)
Charge for the year 3,502) 124) – 3,980) 7,606)
Accelerated depreciation in respect of 
owned property

2,937) –) – –) 2,937)

Revaluation adjustment (30,534) –) – –) (30,534)
Disposals (16) –) – (152) (168)

At 31 July 2013 97) 1,007) – 17,529) 18,633)

Net book value

At 31 July 2013 125,252) 856) 1,490 14,665) 142,263)

At 31 July 2012 111,014) 722) 7,656 13,764) 133,156)

Represented by:

Inherited 47,895) –) – –) 47,895)
Financed by capital grants 12,032) –) – 801) 12,833)
Other 65,325) 856) 1,490 13,864) 81,535)

Net book value at 31 July 2013 125,252) 856) 1,490 14,665) 142,263)

Land and buildings inherited from the Local Authority by Luton College of Higher Education and subsequently
transferred to the University on its incorporation have been included at their revalued amount as at 31 July 2013,
together with other land and buildings owned by the University. The valuation was carried out in July 2013 by Gerald
Eve LLP. The depreciation associated with the revalued properties has been cleared down, and the cost adjusted
accordingly to show the asset cost at its revalued amount in accordance with FRS15. The land and property revalued
by the University increased in value by £1,355,000 (2012: £nil) and this increase in value is included within the
revaluation adjustments detailed above. Any diminutions in value have been taken to the Income and Expenditure
Account in accordance with FRS15.

Included within Other owned assets is an amount of £150,000 (2012: £150,000) relating to the Hockliffe Collection of
early British children’s books. This has been identified as a heritage asset under FRS30 ‘Heritage Assets’. The Hockliffe
Collection is not depreciated.

Movements in Assets under construction relate to the University’s Estates Strategy. Further information regarding this
is included in note 11 below.

In addition to the properties included as fixed assets above, the University occupies sites in Bedfordshire and
Buckinghamshire in relation to the delivery of nursing contracts. These premises are used for teaching and
administrative purposes. The combined annual rental and utilities cost in the year ended 31 July 2013 amounted to
£885,000 (2012: £827,000) and is included within other operating expenses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

11  Estates strategy

The University has an Estates Strategy Masterplan which was approved by the Board of Governors in 2006 and

covers proposed developments at both the Luton and Bedford campuses over a ten year period. In 2012 the

Masterplan was revised, with some elements being deferred, and new proposals progressed such as Campus

Academic and Student Experience Enhancement (CASEE) projects at Luton and Bedford. The principal new

proposals being progressed at 31 July 2013 are the construction of a New Library at the Luton Campus and a

New Academic Building and enhanced sports facilities at the Polhill Campus.

The phases of the Strategy arising in the current and prior years which have received planning permission,

commenced and/or completed by 31 July 2013 are:

Construction commenced Completion date

Luton Postgraduate and CPD Centre March 2011 February 2013

Luton CASEE September 2013 September 2015

Bedford CASEE July 2013 January 2015

As a result of the review of the Estates Strategy Masterplan there has been a change in the timing of the

development work, designs have been agreed for a New Library at the Luton Campus, and a New Academic

Building and enhanced sports facilities at the Polhill Campus. Planning approval has been received and both

projects have been commenced.

Further phases of the Strategy continue to be assessed for feasibility. Properties which are expected to be

affected by these future phases are being depreciated over their estimated remaining useful economic lives

based on the revised Estates Strategy.

The accelerated depreciation charged in the year in respect of the properties affected by the current and future

phases amounts to £2,937,000 (2012: £6,748,000). This additional depreciation is partially offset by the release

from the revaluation reserve in respect of the properties affected amounting to £1,934,000 (2012: £5,386,000).

The reduction year on year is due to the change in the University’s Estates Strategy Masterplan as detailed

above.

12  Investments
Consolidated University

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

CVCP Properties plc 28 28 28 28

Investment in subsidiary companies at cost – – 11 11

28 28 39 39

The University owns 99.9% of the issued share capital of 1,000 £1 ordinary shares of University of Bedfordshire

Enterprises Limited, a company registered in England and Wales and operating in the UK, whose major activities

are the provision of conferences, full-cost courses and consultancy.

The University owns 100% of the issued share capital of the following dormant companies, all of which are

registered in England and Wales:

1 £1 ordinary share in Bedford Business School Limited

2 £1 ordinary shares in Bedfordshire Business School Limited

1 £1 ordinary share in Milton Keynes Business School Limited

1 £1 ordinary share in UoB Student Accommodation (Luton) Limited

9,999 £1 ordinary shares in The Centre for Competitiveness Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

13  Endowment asset investments
Consolidated University

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,518 1,644 1,518 1,644

Revaluations to market value 169) (89) 169) (89)

Decrease in cash balances held (87) (37) (87) (37)

Balance at the end of the year 1,600 1,518 1,600 1,518

Represented by:

M & G Charifund units 1,241 1,072 1,241 1,072

Bank balances 359 446 359 446

1,600 1,518 1,600 1,518

14  Debtors
Consolidated University

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade debtors 2,819 1,906 2,734 1,806

Prepayments 3,163 3,383 3,152 3,383

Accrued income 1,846 2,103 1,814 2,080

Amount due from subsidiary undertaking – – 339 330

Other debtors 191 5 191 5

8,019 7,397 8,230 7,604

15  Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Consolidated University

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Unsecured loans (note 17) 691 686 691 686

Trade creditors 5,445 4,852 5,431 4,841

Payments on account 3,431 5,024 3,431 5,024

Social security and other taxation payable 1,228 1,242 1,228 1,242

Accruals 4,439 7,564 4,367 7,472

Deferred income 4,953 8,584 4,916 8,365

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings – – 10 10

Other creditors (re HEFCE) 21 4 21 4

Other creditors (non HEFCE) 903 825 903 827

21,111 28,781 20,998 28,471

16  Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Consolidated University

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Unsecured loans (note 17) 15,633 16,319 15,633 16,319

Other creditors 714 746 714 746

16,347 17,065 16,347 17,065

University of Bedfordshire 32 Financial Statements



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

17  Loans
Consolidated University

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Loans are repayable as follows:

Between one and two years 702 691 702 691

Between two and five years 2,175 2,141 2,175 2,141

Over five years 12,756 13,487 12,756 13,487

Total falling due after more than one year (note 16) 15,633 16,319 15,633 16,319

Total falling due within one year (note 15) 691 686 691 686

16,324 17,005 16,324 17,005

Interest payable on the loans is charged as follows:

Barclays Bank Tranche A (i) 5.18% fixed rate

Barclays Bank Tranche A (ii) 0.23% above LIBOR

Barclays Bank Tranche B 5.35% fixed rate

Lloyds TSB Bank (i) 5.35% fixed rate

Lloyds TSB Bank (ii) 0.22% above base rate

18  Provisions for liabilities

Consolidated University

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Dilapidations 5,446 5,211 5,446 5,211

Other provisions 642 1,767 642 1,767

6,088 6,978 6,088 6,978

Other
Dilapidations provisions Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2012 5,211) 1,767) 6,978)
Charged to income and expenditure 235) 162) 397)
Payments –) (771) (771)
Released to income and expenditure –) (516) (516)

At 31 July 2013 5,446) 642) 6,088)

The dilapidations provision represents the anticipated costs for premises where the lease is due to terminate

and/or the University plans to exit the premises.

Other provisions include amounts relating to potential tax liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

19  Deferred Capital Grants

Consolidated

HEFCE Other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2012

Buildings 12,534 136 12,670
Equipment 1,008 133 1,141

Total 13,542 269 13,811

Cash receivable in the year

Buildings 358 – 358
Equipment – – –

Total 358 – 358

Reclassified in the year

Buildings 484 2 486
Equipment (486) – (486)

Total (2) 2 –

Released to income in the year

Buildings 931) 39) 970)
Equipment 261) 72) 333)

Total 1,192) 111) 1,303)

At 31 July 2013

Buildings 12,445 99 12,544
Equipment 261 61 322

Total 12,706 160 12,866
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

19  Deferred Capital Grants (continued)

University

HEFCE Other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2012

Buildings 12,534 81 12,658
Equipment 1,063 43 1,063

Total 13,597 124 13,721

Cash receivable in the year

Buildings 358 – 358
Equipment – – –

Total 358 – 358

Reclassified in the year

Buildings 484 57 541
Equipment (540) (1) (541)

Total (56) 56) –)

Released to income in the year

Buildings 931) 39) 970)
Equipment 262) 14) 276)

Total 1,193) 53) 1,246)

At 31 July 2013

Buildings 12,445 99 12,544
Equipment 261 28 289

Total 12,706 127 12,833

University of Bedfordshire 35 Financial Statements



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20  Endowments
Consolidated 

and University

Restricted
Expendable

£’000

At 1 August 2012

Capital value 1,562)
Accumulated income (44)

Total 1,518

Movements during the year

Additions 21)
Revaluation of endowment asset investments 207)
Income for the year 59)
Expenditure for the year (205)

Total 1,600

At 31 July 2013

Capital value 1,639)
Accumulated income (39)

Total 1,600

£’000
Representing:

Powdrill Fund 1,011
Sir Ian Dixon Memorial Fund 20
Dr Tony Wood Fund 19
Appeals Fund 206
Steel Trust Fund 190
Hedges Fund 89
Alexander Trust – Bursary Fund 41
Other funds 24

1,600
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21   Reconciliation of movements on reserves

Endowments Revaluation Income and Pension Total
reserve expenditure reserve

account
Consolidated £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2012 1,518) 56,721) 81,091) (23,832) 115,498)

Revaluation of endowment asset investments 207) –) –) –) 207)

New endowments 21) –) –) –) 21)

Net endowment expense for the year (146) –) –) –) (146)

Difference between historical cost depreciation

charge and the actual depreciation charge –) (993) 993) –) –)
for the year on the revalued amount

Accelerated release in respect of –) (1,934) 1,934) –) –)
owned property

Surplus after depreciation of assets at –) –) 15,330) –) 15,330)
valuation and taxation

Adjustment for movements in the –) –) 1,160) (1,160) –)
Income and Expenditure account

Revaluation of land and property –) 1,131) –) –) 1,131)

Actuarial loss in the year –) –) –) (2,452) (2,452)

At 31 July 2013 1,600) 54,925) 100,508) (27,444) 129,589)

University

At 1 August 2012 1,518) 56,721) 81,494) (23,832) 115,901)

Revaluation of endowment asset investments 207) –) –) –) 207)

New endowments 21) –) –) –) 21)

Net endowment expense for the year (146) –) –) –) (146)

Difference between historical cost depreciation

charge and the actual depreciation charge –) (993) 993) –) –)
for the year on the revalued amount

Accelerated release in respect of –) (1,934) 1,934) –) –)
owned property

Surplus after depreciation of assets at –) –) 15,209) –) 15,209)
valuation and taxation

Adjustment for movements in the –) –) 1,160) (1,160) –)
Income and Expenditure account

Revaluation of land and property –) 1,131) –) –) 1,131)

Actuarial loss in the year –) –) –) (2,452) (2,452)

At 31 July 2013 1,600) 54,925) 100,790) (27,444) 129,871)
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22  Lease obligations
Consolidated and University

Land and buildings Other

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Operating lease commitments for the financial year 

on leases expiring:

Within one year 24 325 7 15

Between one and two years – – 22 10

Between two and five years 770 263 64 23

Over five years 1,923 1,884 – –

2,717 2,472 93 48

23  Capital commitments
Consolidated University

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Commitments contracted 12,574 10,112 12,574 10,112

Authorised but not contracted 60,155 7,933 60,155 7,933

72,729 18,045 72,729 18,045

Included above are amounts in respect of the development of the Luton and Bedford campuses. The amount

contracted at 31 July 2013 in respect of these developments was £6,050,000 (2012: £8,638,000); an additional

£55,468,000 (2012: £5,308,000) was authorised but not contracted for at the balance sheet date.

24  Contingent liabilities

In common with other publicly funded UK universities, the University is subject to a cap on the number of new
full-time UK and EU undergraduate students which it is permitted to recruit in any one academic year. With effect
from 1 August 2011, a new penalty regime was introduced whereby universities were subject to a fine for each
student recruited in excess of the allocated cap. The University exceeded its cap level in 2011/12 and was
therefore subject to fines of £0.7million in 2011/12 and again in 2012/13. The University may be liable for a further
fine of £0.7million in 2013/14 if its student numbers remain above its cap level.

25  Reconciliation of consolidated operating surplus to net cash inflow from operating activities

2013 2012
£’000 £’000

Surplus after depreciation of assets at valuation and exceptional items

but before taxation
15,184 13,091)

Contribution from endowments (57) (64)

Depreciation 10,607 13,309

Loss on disposals of tangible fixed assets 116) 3)

FRS17 adjustment to income and expenditure account – staff costs 109) 157)

FRS17 adjustment to income and Expenditure Account – interest 1,051 724

Deferred capital grants released to income (note 19) (1,303) (1,296)

Interest receivable (1,125) (1,125)

Interest payable 506 515

Appreciation in value of land and buildings (224) –

(Increase)/decrease in stocks (9) 7

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (746) 874

(Decrease)/increase in creditors (5,996) 1,791

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (890) 1,112

Net cash inflow from operating activities 17,223) 29,098)
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26  Analysis of changes in net debt
Other

1 August Cashflows non-cash 31 July
2012 changes 2013

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 1,658) 12,477) –) 14,135)
Cash held within endowments 446) (87) –) 359)

2,104) 12,390) –) 14,494)

Short-term deposits 62,068) (14,754) –) 47,314)
Debts due within one year (686) 686) (691) (691)
Debts due after one year (16,319) –) 691) (15,628)

Net funds 47,167) (1,678) –) 45,489)

Cash deposits which cannot be realised within 24 hours without penalty are classified as liquid resources in the

Cash Flow Statement and are included within cash at bank and in hand in the Balance Sheets.

27  Pension schemes

Employees of the University and its subsidiaries belong principally to two pension schemes, the Teachers’

Pension Scheme (TPS) and the Bedford Borough Council Pension Fund (BBCPF). A small number of staff belong

to the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS).

The total pension cost in the year, including the FRS17 adjustment, was:

2013 2012

£’000 £’000

TPS 2,938 2,861

BBCPF 2,922 2,764

USS 436 384

NHS 7 11

6,303 6,020

Teachers’ Pension Scheme

The TPS is a statutory, contributory, final salary scheme. As the University is unable to identify its share of the

scheme’s assets and liabilities on a consistent and reasonable basis, the scheme has been accounted for in these

financial statements as if it were a defined contribution scheme, as permitted by FRS17, ‘Retirement benefits’.

Actuarial reviews of the scheme are undertaken at four yearly intervals. The actuarial reviews as at 31 March

2008 and 31 March 2012 have not yet been published.

The most recent published actuarial valuation was effective as at 31 March 2004 and covered the three previous

financial years. As a result of the review both employer’s and employees’ contribution rates were increased. A

further review introduced, with effect from 1 April 2012, banded rates of employee contributions with respect to

gross salary but maintained the employer’s contribution rate at 14.1%.

The contribution rates are set out below:

Up to and including 31 March 2012 From 1 April 2012
% %

Employer’s 14.1 14.1

Employees’ – Minimum 6.4 6.4

– Maximum 6.4 11.2

The cost sharing agreement between employers and teachers’ representatives also introduced, effective for the

first time for the 2008 valuation, a 14% cap on employer contributions payable.
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27  Pension schemes (continued)

The principal assumptions used in the 31 March 2004 valuation and the summary of valuation of assets and

accrued benefits were as follows:

Actuarial method Prospective benefits

Investment returns per annum 6.50%

Salary scale increases per annum 5.00%

Pension increases per annum 3.50%

Total value of assets at date of last valuation £162,650m

Proportion of members’ accrued benefits covered by the actuarial value of the assets 98.88%

Bedford Borough Council Pension Fund (BBCPF)

The BBCPF is a funded defined benefit scheme with the assets held in separate trustee administered funds. The

total contribution for the year ended 31 July 2013 was £3,954,000 (2012: £3,683,000) of which employer

contributions totalled £2,922,000 (2012: £2,727,000) and employee contributions totalled £1,030,000 (2012: £956,000).

A full actuarial valuation of the fund as at 31 March 2010 was undertaken by a qualified independent actuary. The

results of the triennial valuation being undertaken as at 31 March 2013 have not yet been published.

The results of the valuation undertaken as at 31 March 2010 have been updated to 31 July 2013 and 31 July 2012

in actuarial valuations prepared for FRS17 purposes by that actuary, and the information below has taken from

those updated valuations. The major assumptions used in these valuations were:

2013 2012

% %

Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.80 2.20

Rate of increase in salaries 5.10 4.50

Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred pensions 2.80 2.20

Discount rate for liabilities 4.60 4.40

Commutation to tax free lump sum 75.00 75.00

Mortality assumptions

Current pensioners – Males (years) 21.6 21.6

– Females (years) 23.2 23.2

Future pensioners – Males (years) 23.6 23.6

– Females (years) 25.6 25.6

The agreed employer contribution rates for current and future years are as follows:

Additional contribution
Rate pa

% £’000
1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012 13.5 853

1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013 13.5 898

1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 13.5 946

The employer’s contribution rate for periods after 31 March 2014 will be determined as part of the actuarial

valuation as at 31 March 2013 currently being undertaken.

With effect from 1 April 2008 the contribution rates payable by employees have been banded according to levels

of pensionable pay. The range of contribution rates payable is from a minimum of 5.50% to a maximum of 7.50%.
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27  Pension schemes (continued)

Scheme assets

The fair value of the University’s share of the scheme’s assets and the expected rates of return thereon are set

out in the table below. 

31 July 2013 31 July 2012

Long-term Long-term

expected expected

rate of rate of

return Value return Value

% pa £’000 % pa £’000

Equities 6.40 37,046 5.50 23,004

Bonds 3.90 10,056 3.50 7,520

Property 4.60 4,234 3.70 3,981

Cash 3.40 1,588 2.80 9,732

52,924 44,237

The scheme’s assets are not intended to be realised in the short-term and may be subject to significant change

before they are realised.

2013 2012

£’000 £’000

University’s estimated share of assets 52,924 44,237

Present value of scheme liabilities (80,368) (68,069)

(27,444) (23,832)

Analysis of the amount charged to the Income and Expenditure Account
Analysis of the amount charged to staff costs:

Employer service cost (net of employee contributions) 2,992) 2,545)

Losses on curtailments and settlements –) 339)

Total operating charge 2,992) 2,884)

Analysis of the amount charged to interest and other finance costs:

Interest on pension scheme liabilities 3,047) 3,159)

Expected return on pension scheme assets (1,996) (2,435)

Pension finance costs 1,051) 724)

Net revenue account cost 4,043) 3,608)

Amount recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 4,416) (1,255)

Change in financial and demographic assumptions underlying 

the scheme liabilities
(6,868) (4,161)

Actuarial losses recognised in the Statement of 
Total Recognised Gains and Losses

(2,452) (5,416)
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27  Pension schemes (continued)
2013 2012

£’000 £’000

Analysis of the movements in the present value of the scheme liabilities
At the beginning of the year 68,069) 58,476)
Current service cost 2,992) 2,545)

Interest cost 3,047) 3,159)

Contributions by scheme members 1,029) 956)

Actuarial losses 6,868) 4,161)

Losses on curtailments and settlements –) 339)

Estimated benefits paid (1,637) (1,567)

At the end of the year 80,368) 68,069)

Analysis of the movements in the market value of the scheme assets
At the beginning of the year 44,237) 40,941)
Expected return on assets 1,996) 2,435)

Contributions by scheme members 1,029) 956)

Contributions by the University 2,883) 2,727)

Actuarial gains/(losses) 4,416) (1,255)

Estimated benefits paid (1,637) (1,567)

At the end of the year 52,924) 44,237)

The estimated value of employer contributions for the year to 31 July 2014 is £2,978,000 (year to 31 July 2013:

£2,803,000).

History of experience gains and losses
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

£m £m £m £m £m

Difference between the expected and actual return 
on assets

4.4) (1.3) 1.8) 2.0) (5.4)

Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities (6.8) (0.6) 1.2) –) (0.4)

Total amounts recognised in the Statement of 
Total Recognised Gains and Losses

(2.4) (5.4) 5.5) (3.8) (8.6)

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses (12.6) (10.2) (4.8) (10.3) (6.5)

Movement in deficit during the year

2013 2012

£’000 £’000

Deficit in the scheme at the beginning of the year (23,832) (17,535)

Current service cost (2,992) (2,545)

Contributions paid 2,883) 2,727)
Losses on curtailments and settlements –) (339)

Net return on assets (1,051) (724)

Actuarial losses (2,452) (5,416)

Deficit in the scheme at the end of the year (27,444) (23,832)
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27  Pension schemes (continued)

Universities Superannuation Scheme

A small number of staff belong to the Universities Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit scheme which is
externally funded and contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a
separate fund administered by the trustee, Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited.

It is not possible to identify each institution’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme and so
the exemptions of FRS17, ‘Retirement Benefits’ have been used to account for the contributions as if it were a
defined contribution scheme. The cost recognised within the surplus for the year in the Income and Expenditure
Account is equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the year.

At the valuation date, the value of the assets of the total scheme was £32,434 million and the value of the total
scheme’s liabilities was £35,344 million indicating a shortfall of £2,910 million. The assets therefore were
sufficient to cover 92% of the benefits which had accrued to members after allowing for expected future
increases in earnings.

At 31 March 2013, USS had over 148,000 active members and the University had 63 active members
participating in the scheme.

The total pension cost in respect of the USS for the University for the year ending 31 July 2013 was £436,000
(2012: £384,000). The contribution rate payable by the University was 16% of pensionable salaries and the
employee contribution rate payable is 7.5% of pensionable salaries.

28  Access funds and Opportunity bursary funds

National College for
Teaching and

HEFCE Leadership

2013 2012 2013 2012

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Unspent brought forward at the beginning of the year (4) 8) 296 351

Grants received 406 347 1,287 593

Interest earned 1 1 – –

403 356 1,583 944

Disbursed (382) (360) (1,240) (452)

Repaid to funding body –) –) –) (196)

Balance unspent at the end of the year 21) (4) 343 296

The grants from HEFCE and the National College for Teaching and Leadership (formerly the Teaching Agency) are

available solely for students of the University.

In all cases the University has acted only as paying agent. The grants and related disbursements are therefore

excluded from the Income and Expenditure Account.
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29  Related party transactions

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Board of Governors (being drawn

from local public and private sector organisations) it is inevitable that transactions will take place with

organisations in which members of the Board of Governors may have an interest. All transactions involving

organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors may have an interest are conducted at arm’s length

and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures.

The President of the Students’ Union also serves as a Trustee of the University and member of the Board of

Governors. The Students’ Union is an independent entity, and the University has no involvement in the running

of this organisation. During the year the University made grant payments to the Students’ Union of £833,000

(2012: £722,000). No other transactions were identified which require disclosure under Financial Reporting

Standard 8, ‘Related Party Disclosures’.

No Governor has received any remuneration or waived payments from the University or its subsidiaries during

the year (2012: None).

The total expenses paid to or on behalf of the Governors during the year was £10,000 (2012: £19,000). This

represents travel and subsistence expenses and other out of pocket expenses incurred in attending Governor

meetings and charity events in their official capacity.
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